## **I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The Circuit Court erroneously dismissed the Petitioner's claim for severance after concluding that she was not entitled to this relief since she did not resign for a "good reason" as defined by the *Employment Agreement*. After correctly holding that SJRC had repeatedly and materially breached the *Employment Agreement* by failing to pay her on time, the finding that the Petitioner did not resign because she had been paid late on four different occasions in the less than six months she worked at SJRC flies in the face of the overwhelming evidence in the record, contradicts logic and requires reversal and remand of this matter.

2. The Circuit Court's holding that the severance payments due to Petitioner pursuant to her *Employment Agreement* were not "wages" pursuant to the West Virginia Wage Payment and Collection Act was clearly erroneous as the terms of that agreement defined the severance payments as wages, thereby triggering the applicability of the civil penalties under the Act. The West Virginia Wage Payment Collection Act, W.Va. Code §21-5-1(c) defines wages to include fringe benefits payable pursuant to W.Va. Code §21-5-4(e) and the lower court's ruling to the contrary is clearly wrong.

3. The Circuit Court erroneously ruled that the Petitioner had waived her right to a jury trial based upon an untimely request from SJRC which did not allow sufficient notice or an opportunity to fully brief and argue this issue. The court-below failed to make the requisite findings and conclusions of law regarding the very broad jury-trial waiver imposed. Further, the trial court ignored the fact that SJRC demanded a jury trial, entered into an agreed scheduling order setting this case for a jury trial, and submitted jury instructions. It was accordingly error to deprive Petitioner of a jury trial by granting SJRC's untimely motion over Petitioner's objection days before trial.

4. It was error for the Circuit Court to *sua sponte* and without notice raise the issue of choice of law and to rule that the Petitioner's claim for severance pay would be resolved under Texas law due to a choice of law provision. This case was pled, briefed, and argued by the parties under West Virginia law, specifically the West Virginia Wage Payment And Collection Act, West Virginia Code Chapter 21, Article 5, which serves an important public purpose in protecting the rights of West Virginians from wage theft, rights that cannot be contractually restricted. The lower court's

cursory *Trial Order* disposing of this matter cited no provision of Texas law thus further convoluting the legal basis for the trial court's ruling.

5. Petitioner's claims for payment of accrued paid-time-off (PTO) were improperly dismissed by the Circuit Court as such payments were earned and due to her according to the *Employee Handbook*. The *Employment Agreement* did not address payment of accrued paid-time-off at termination of employment, and therefore Petitioner's entitlement to payment of accrued paid-time-off after resigning is ambiguous at best. Accordingly, it was error for the court-below to deny this claim, particularly without the entry of an *Order* making proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law.

## **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal concerns post-resignation pay sought by the Petitioner Aime Miller following her resignation from employment with SJRC in June 2019. After SJRC refused to pay to Petitioner her accrued paid-time-off, Petitioner filed the instant action on September 10, 2019 seeking to enforce her contractual and statutory rights to post-resignation pay, including a contractual severance package, accrued paid time off promised in the *Employee Handbook* and statutory penalties for late payment due to violations of the West Virginia Wage Payment Collection Act, West Virginia Code §§21-5-1 *et seq.* (2018). All claims were denied by the trial court, the Honorable Jason A. Wharton, several at the pre-trial stage and the remainder following a bench trial precipitously *Ordered* by the trial court in lieu of a jury trial.

### **A. Facts**

Petitioner herein and Plaintiff-below Amie Miller (hereafter "Petitioner") accepted employment at St. Joseph Recovery Center ("SJRC") as a Nurse Practitioner in December 2018

pursuant to an “Employment Agreement” between Petitioner and SJRC. *Complaint* ¶ 2, *Exhibit A to the Complaint; Answer* ¶ 2, *Meadows 30(b)(7) TR 24*, APP 000003, 000028, 146. The thirteen page “*Employment Agreement*” outlined the terms and conditions of Petitioner’s employment including compensation, termination, resignation, and the availability of severance pay. APP 00009-00013. In addition to the individual employment agreement, SJRC issued Petitioner (and other employees) an “*Employee Handbook*” also containing provisions pertaining to procedures for resignation, termination, and severance. *Meadows 30(b)(7) TR 35-38*, APP 000148.

After less than six months on the job at SJRC, Petitioner resigned due to SJRC’s repeated failure to pay her salary and compensation on time. Petitioner’s pay was late no less than four times during her brief employment at SJRC. APP 000146-147.<sup>1</sup> After receiving her pay late for the fourth time, on June 18, 2019, Aime Miller resigned from SJRC. She did so by hand delivering two versions of a letter of resignation to SJRC’s CEO Donna Meadows - one providing two-months-notice and one providing three-months-notice to her employer. APP 369-370.<sup>2</sup> SJRC instead elected for Petitioner to leave two weeks after her resignation letter was submitted, a decision made solely at Defendant’s election, and not by Petitioner. *Complaint* ¶ 9; *Answer* ¶ 9, APP 000005, 000028. CEO Meadows was fully aware that Petitioner was resigning because she was not being paid as required by her employment agreement. APP 000365.

Petitioner’s resignation letter accepted by SJRC stated as follows:

---

<sup>1</sup>Payroll was not timely paid by SJRC on March 29, 2019, April 12, 2019, April 26, 2019, and June 7, 2019 APP 000371-372. Eleven days following SJRC’s fourth failure to make payroll on time, Petitioner submitted her resignation.

<sup>2</sup> Only the version of the resignation letter actually accepted by SJRC is a part of the record at APP 000082, as no discovery was conducted by Respondent SRJC and no evidence was offered by SJRC at trial.

June 18, 2019

Aime Miller  
1120 Hadley Hollow Rd  
Marietta, OH 45760

Donna Meadows, CEO  
Tabitha Smith, DON  
St. Joseph Recovery Center  
1824 Murdoch Ave, Bldg. C  
Parkersburg, WV 26101

Dear Donna and Tabitha,

Please accept this as my letter of resignation from my position as Nurse Practitioner at St. Joseph Recovery Center. My last day of employment will be August 16, 2019. July 3, 2019

I have received an offer to work as a Nurse Practitioner at a halfway house in Marietta, Ohio. After careful consideration I have realized that this opportunity is too exciting to decline.

It has been a great pleasure to work on your team for the past 6 months, and I hope you understand that this was a difficult decision. The skills that I have learned in your facility will be an asset with all my future patients. I would like to thank you for the ability to work as part of a great team while furthering my education and my career path.

I am fully committed to assisting with this transition and with training my replacement and in any other matters that will be required in this transition period.

Sincerely,

*Aime Miller*



SJRC 000046

MILLER 000082

APP 000082; 000361-000364.

After her resignation Petitioner requested the severance due to her by virtue of the *Employment Agreement* and the earned and accrued but unused paid-time-off as permitted by the *Employee Handbook*. SJRC refused to pay either, despite Aime Miller departing SJRC in good

standing and upon the two-week notice period directed by SJRC CEO Meadows. APP 000361-364, 000374-375.

In support of her claim for severance pay, Petitioner relied upon the *Employment Agreement* which provided that any resignation for a “good reason” entitled the Petitioner to severance benefits from SJRC. The pertinent provisions of the *Employment Agreement* begin with section 4.4:

#### 4.4 Voluntary resignation

In the event that the Employee voluntarily resigns the Employee will give a minimum of three (3) months advance written notice to the Company, except in the case of voluntary resignation for Good Reason as provided for in this Agreement. In the event that the Employee resigns for Good Reason, he shall be entitled to the Severance Package set forth in Section 4.6 below.

The definition of “good reason” as well as the eligibility for severance payments is found in section 4.6 of the *Employment Agreement*:

#### **(4.6) Termination by the Company without Cause; Resignation for good reason.**

a) **The company may terminate the employment of the employee** in its absolute discretion, without Cause, and for any reason, **upon providing the Employee with** one (1) month notice and **a Severance Package (“the Severance package”)** consisting of Base Salary paid monthly in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices for the lesser of (A) the number of full months of the then remaining term of the Agreement; **or (b) three (3) months, together with health coverage during the severance period.** The provisions of the Severance Package shall constitute full and final satisfaction of all rights and entitlements that the Employee has or may have arising from or related to the termination of his/her employment, whether pursuant to statute, contract, common law, or otherwise.”<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> This last sentence which attempts to restrict Petitioner’s remedies under the Wage Payment & Collection Act is prohibited by West Virginia Code § 21-5-10 (1975) which provides:

Except as provided in section thirteen [§21-5-13], **no provision of this article may in any way be contravened or set aside by private agreement**, and the acceptance by an employee of a partial payment of wages shall not constitute a release as to the balance of his claim and any release required as a condition of such payment shall be null and void.

(b) **Employee's employment will be deemed to have been terminated without cause if the Company materially breaches its obligations to provide him/her compensation or benefits** or breaches any other material term of this Agreement, **each reason of which shall constitute "Good Reason" for resignation** by the Employee as set forth in Section 4.4, above, or in the event that there is a change of control, and the Company's successor does not assume and honor this Agreement. (emphasis added)<sup>4</sup>

The "*Employee Handbook*" issued to Petitioner when she was hired also contained provisions pertaining to procedures for resignation, termination, and severance, and stated, in pertinent part:

Because you are employed at will, either you or the company may terminate the employment relationship at any time, for any reason, with or without notice (if employee is under an employee agreement, employment termination by either party will follow the terms of the contract). Employees providing proper notice will be considered to have left in good standing and may be eligible for the payment of certain accrued, unused paid time off. Those employees deemed to have not left in good standing will not be eligible for any accrued, unused paid time off, and they will not be eligible for rehire. *Employee Handbook*, Section 3.8 ("Employment at Will") *Meadows 30(b)(7) TR 35-38*, APP 000148.

As to the notice requirements for voluntary resignations, SJRC's *Employee Handbook* further provides:

Employees who resign voluntarily are required to submit their notice in writing to the program director and supervisor. Written notice must include the date the notice is given and the time period of intended notice. Management and all salaried staff are expected to provide a (30) thirty-day notice, and all other positions must provide a (2) two-week notice. **Employees who fail to work the proper notice will not be eligible for the payment of eligible, available paid time off** and will not be eligible for rehire. (emphasis added) *Employee Handbook*, Section 3.15 ("Voluntary Resignation Procedure"). APP 000005, 000021, 000028, 147-149

---

This Court has also noted that employees' rights to wages conferred by the Act cannot be affected by equitable principles, such as estoppel. *Britner v. Medical Sec. Card*, 200 W. Va. 352, 489 S.E.2d 734, (1997) (citing W. Va. Code § 21-5-10).

<sup>4</sup>Additionally, Section 4.7 of the *Employment Agreement* entitled "Total Severance Compensation" provides that: "Except as set forth in this Agreement, the Employee shall not be entitled to any compensation for wrongful dismissal, severance pay, or termination pay, if the employment of the Employee is terminated pursuant to the terms hereof." Complaint ¶ 3, Answer ¶ 3. APP 000003-4, 000028.

## **B. Procedural Background**

When SJRC would not pay accrued paid-time-off and severance pay, Petitioner filed this action on September 10, 2019, requesting a jury trial on these matters. APP 00003-000021. In its *Answer*, SJRC admitted that Petitioner was employed under the terms of the agreement which was attached as Exhibit A to the complaint and similarly requested a trial by jury. APP 000027-28. The civil case information sheets of Petitioner and all named Defendants including SJRC requested jury trials. APP 000032, 000041.

An agreed scheduling order was entered on January 31, 2020, setting this case for jury trial on September 1, 2020. APP 000043. Deadlines for the submission of jury instructions were established, and the court-below directed that “the provisions of this order and the resultant scheduling order shall be controlling in the management of this case.” APP 000045; 000049.

Thereafter, SJRC’s “*Motion for Summary Judgment*” was briefed by the parties and a hearing was held on August 11, 2020. APP 000050-000244. As to Petitioner’s entitlement to reimbursement of accrued paid-time-off provided for in the *Employee Handbook*, SJRC argued that the *Employment Agreement* controlled and that the *Employee Handbook* did not apply whatsoever to Petitioner’s employment, thereby depriving Petitioner of payment of accrued paid-time-off. APP 000216-218. SJRC then relied upon Petitioner’s letter of resignation to assert that Petitioner had not resigned because of not being paid on time. APP 000218-219. SJRC further asserted that the severance package provided for in the employment agreement was not compensation for labor or services rendered and therefore did not constitute “wages” under the



Wage Payment Collection Act thereby eliminating any civil penalties under the Act due for the nonpayment of such severance package. APP 000229-230.<sup>5</sup>

As to the issue of whether the severance package constituted wages, Petitioner directed the trial court to the *Employment Agreement* which defined the payments as “a Severance Package (“the Severance package”) consisting of Base Salary paid monthly in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices.” Thus, SJRC’s *Employment Agreement* by its plain terms provided that severance constitutes wages. APP 000238-239. As to the purported inapplicability of the *Employee Handbook*, SJRC’s handbook did not specifically state whether an employee’s entitlement to accrued PTO was affected by a separate employee agreement or not. Therefore, relying upon this Court’s ruling in Meadows v. Wal-Mart Stores, 207 W. Va. 203, 530 S.E.2d 676 (1999), Petitioner argued that any ambiguity should be resolved in favor of payment of accrued paid-time-off. APP 000240-241.

The trial court nevertheless held that SJRC’s *Employee Handbook* had no bearing on the case and therefore Petitioner was entitled to none of her accrued PTO. (APP 000266-267; *Letter from Judge Jason A. Wharton, August 11, 2020*). Further, the court-below determined that the severance pay provided for under the *Employment Agreement* did not constitute wages as defined by the Wage Payment Collection Act. The court-below also found that “although the [resignation] letter submitted to St. Joseph Recovery Center appears on its face to be dispositive of the issue, counsel for the Plaintiff sets forth reasonable grounds that a jury should be permitted to evaluate

---

<sup>5</sup> SJRC noted that it would not object to certifying to this Court the question regarding severance pay or to staying the proceedings pending the outcome of such certified question. APP 000230-231.

concerning the Plaintiff's reasons for leaving her employment.”<sup>6</sup> Finally, Defendants St. Joseph's Operating Company LLC and Siltstone Holdings, LLC were dismissed from the case.<sup>7</sup>

A final pretrial hearing was conducted on August 24, 2020 during which a variety of issues relating to jury selection in light of the Covid-19 pandemic restrictions were discussed by counsel and the Court. APP 000278-287. Following this pretrial hearing, an email exchange was initiated by counsel for SJRC where for the very first time SJRC asserted that the provisions of the *Employment Agreement* (Section 7.6) constituted a waiver of Petitioner's right to trial by jury – a waiver which SJRC now belatedly sought to enforce. APP 000289-293. Based upon this email, the Circuit Court scheduled a hearing for August 26, 2020 at 8:45 a.m. via Skype on the issue of whether the Petitioner was entitled to proceed with the trial by jury.<sup>8</sup>

At this hastily scheduled hearing, the Circuit Court *sua sponte* raised the issue of whether the law of the State of West Virginia or the law of the State of Texas applied to the case despite the fact that SJRC had never before raised the issue of whether Texas or West Virginia law applied. APP 000297. Petitioner's objections to the lack of any notice as to these two important, substantive issues (jury waiver and choice of law) when neither issue had ever been raised, argued, or briefed at any point in these proceedings, were ignored. APP 000299-300. Petitioner correctly noted that this case was brought pursuant to West Virginia law, briefed under West Virginia law, and argued

---

<sup>6</sup> Although counsel for SJRC was directed by the trial court to submit an order consistent with the Court's findings, no such order was ever presented or entered. APP 000267.

<sup>7</sup> Petitioner does not appeal the dismissal of these Defendants from this case.

<sup>8</sup> The transcript of this hearing appears at APP 000294-308.

under West Virginia law including argument upon SJRC's summary judgment motion. Moreover, both parties had sought the right to trial by jury, had prepared and submitted jury instructions on that basis, and had conducted the pretrial hearing on that basis. APP 000301.

The court-below nevertheless overruled Petitioner's objections, holding that there was no prejudice to the Petitioner in being denied an opportunity to present the issue of her reason for resigning to a jury. APP 000301-302. The trial court also – again without notice, input or briefing from the parties –found that the *Employment Agreement* constituted a waiver of Petitioner's right to a jury trial and that therefore she was “not entitled to a jury trial” and would instead “be heard at a bench trial.” APP 000303. The trial court noted that it intended to conduct and resolve the case pursuant to Texas law on its own motion over Petitioner's objection and to do so on the previously scheduled trial date - five days later on September 1, 2020. APP 000305-306. Again, no *Order* was prepared memorializing these rulings and not findings of fact or conclusions of law were made.

### **C. The Trial**

On September 1, 2020, a mere five days after these game-changing rulings were issued, a non-jury, bench trial before Judge Wharton was conducted.<sup>9</sup> Three witness were called to testify, two former employees of SJRC, Tabitha Smith and Gina Elschlager, and the Petitioner Aime Miller.<sup>10</sup> Although SJRC's CEO, Donna Meadows attended the trial as SJRC's corporate

---

<sup>9</sup> The trial record is found at APP 000309-380. No *Order* reflecting the finding and rulings of the trial court made on August 26, 2020 was ever entered.

<sup>10</sup> Two exhibits were admitted. Exhibit 1 was the *Employment Agreement*. APP 000356. Exhibit 2 was Petitioner's letter of resignation. APP 000082, 000361-366.

representative, neither she nor any other witnesses were called by SJRC nor was any evidence presented by SJRC.

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