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

C. The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in ruling that the trial of this matter be decided by bench trial, and even if the Circuit Court committed error, which it did not, such error was "harmless."

Petitioner contends that the Circuit Court, without any analysis or consideration of the legal standards of waiver . . . forced this matter to be tried as a bench trial . . ." <u>Petitioner's Brief</u>, p. 31. As shown in the record, the Circuit Court correctly proceeded with a bench trial in this matter, as §7.6 of the subject Employment Agreement contains a jury waiver provision, and despite Petitioner's representations, the Circuit Court evaluated and analyzed the relevant legal standards of waiver in arriving at such conclusion.

Section 7.6 of the Employment Agreement contains the following jury waiver provision:

Each party hereto hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any right it may have to a trial by jury in respect of any litigation directly or indirectly arising out of, under or in connection with this Agreement.

Appx., p. 18. Additionally, the subject Employment Agreement, pursuant to §7.5, is subject to the laws of the State of Texas. Appx., p. 17. As such, any question regarding the validity of the jury waiver provision must be resolved under Texas law.

In analyzing whether the jury waiver contained in Petitioner's employment agreement was valid, the Circuit Court looked at In re: Frank Kent Motor Co. 336 S.W.3d 374 (Tex. App. 2011) (held that at-will employee failed to rebut the presumption that he executed the conspicuous jury waiver in employer's handbook knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily).

Frank Kent Motor Co. recognized that contractual jury waivers are enforceable, but they must be found to be a *voluntary, knowing, and intelligent* act that was done with sufficient awareness of

⁵ Petitioner cites only cites to West Virginia law in her brief, but no matter which law actually applies, Texas or West Virginia, the standard of "voluntary, knowing, and intelligent" remains consistent in both. See State ex rel. Dunlap v. Berger, 211 W. Va. 549, 567 S.E.2d 265 (2002)(recognizing legally enforceable jury waivers and that a strict "knowing and intelligent waiver" standard should ordinarily apply to the waiver of the rights to a jury trial in the public court system).

the relevant circumstances and likely consequences. Absent the allegation of fraud or imposition in regard to a jury waiver, it is presumed to be knowing and voluntary if the provision is conspicuous within the document, and it is then incumbent upon the one seeking to invalidate the waiver to rebut such presumption. <u>Id.</u> at 378. Despite the opportunity to argue against the validity of the jury waiver at the pretrial hearing, as well as on appeal, Petitioner has wholly failed to rebut the presumption that Petitioner's waiver of a jury trial was anything but knowing and intelligent. Therefore, the Circuit Court's analysis of the jury waiver provision was correct, and the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in conducting a bench trial pursuant to the same.

Even if, assuming *arguendo*, that the Circuit Court erred in conducting a bench trial, such error was "harmless" pursuant to Rule 60 of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure*. Rule 60 provides:

No error in either the admission or the exclusion of evidence and no error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court or by any of the parties is ground for granting a new trial or for setting aside a verdict or for vacating, modifying or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.

Similarly, it has been consistently held by this Court that "[o]n appeal of a case involving an action covered by the Rules of Civil Procedure, this Court will disregard and regard as harmless any error, defect or irregularity in the proceedings in the trial court which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties." Syl. Pt. 3, Original Glorious Church of God In Christ, Inc. of Apostolic Faith v. Myers, 179 W. Va. 255, 367 S.E.2d 30 (1988); Syl. Pt. 2, Boggs v. Settle, 150 W.Va. 330, 145 S.E.2d 446 (1965). The substantial rights of Petitioner were not affected by this matter proceeding to bench trial, and she has advanced no argument which would contend otherwise.

In the August 26, 2020 pretrial hearing, Petitioner's sole argument in support of a perceived effect of her substantial rights was to state, "We prepared this case for a jury, as did the Defendant. We prepared jury instructions, as did the Defendant. We debated the issues to be presented to the jury as did the Defendant." Appx., p. 301. Unpersuaded, the Circuit Court recognizing that the jury waiver simply determines the trier of fact, correctly noted that Petitioner's case to be presented is unaffected:

Those are still the issues that are going to be presented to the Court if the Court interprets the employment agreement in favor of the Defense. This is what I am getting at. Other than the jury instructions, and those would be helpful to the Court in determining the issues, I am struggling to see how you are prejudiced.

Appx., pp. 301-302.

Because the decision by the Circuit Court to correctly apply the jury waiver provision contained in Petitioner's Employment Agreement and conduct a bench trial did not have any effect on the issues to be decided, the evidence presented, or Petitioner's ability to make her case at trial, any error of the Circuit Court, if one exists, was harmless error and should not be considered on appeal.

D. The Circuit Court did not err in applying Texas law to Petitioner's Employment Agreement, and Petitioner never challenged its validity and conceded that she would be prepared to proceed at trial under Texas law when offered additional time to prepare her case.

Petitioner claims that the Circuit Court, *sua sponte*, and without notice determined that Texas law would govern the subject Employment Agreement (executed by Petitioner in January 2019) pursuant to a valid choice of law provision contained in the same. With little legal analysis, Petitioner's three-paragraph argument centers on the mistaken belief that (a) the Circuit Court "interpreted" the choice of law provision; and (b) the legal issues concerning the application of the

Employment Agreement are not mutually exclusive of the claims for damages involving the West Virginia Wage Payment and Collection Act ("WPCA").

Petitioner's assignment of error relating to the valid choice of law provision contained in her employment agreement must fail, because at no time has Plaintiff ever contended that the choice of law provision is invalid and conceded that she would be prepared to proceed at trial under Texas law. Additionally, Petitioner's assignment of error fails because the choice of law provision requiring the Employment Agreement to be decided under Texas law is not mutually exclusive to Petitioner's claims under the WPCA. Finally, even if there were error in applying Texas law to the terms of the Employment Agreement, the result is "harmless error," as the only issue of law decided at trial relative to the Agreement was decided in Petitioner's favor.

i. The choice of law provision was valid, and Petitioner denied the opportunity to continue the trial date to address the validity of the choice of law provision and/or prepare to proceed under Texas law.

Section 7.5 of the Petitioner's Employment Agreement provides as follows:

This agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas without regard to conflicts of law principles.

Appx., p. 17. West Virginia law has long recognized "the presumptive validity of a choice of law provision, (1) unless the provision bears no substantial relationship to the chosen jurisdiction or (2) the application of the laws of the chosen jurisdiction would offend the public policy of this State." W. Virginia CVS Pharmacy, LLC v. McDowell Pharmacy, Inc., 238 W. Va. 465, 471, 796 S.E.2d 574, 580 (2017)(quoting Manville Pers. Injury Settlement Tr. v. Blankenship, 231 W.Va. 637, 644, 749 S.E.2d 329, 336 (2013) (citing Bryan v. Massachusetts Mut. Life Ins. Co., 178 W.Va. 773, 777, 364 S.E.2d 786, 790 (1987); Syl. Pt. 1, General Elec. Co. v. Keyser, 166 W.Va. 456, 275 S.E.2d 289 (1981). The record on appeal, including *Petitioner's Brief*, is completely

devoid of any challenge to the validity of the choice of law provision. Therefore, the choice of law provision, under West Virginia law is presumed valid.

Rather than argue the validity of the choice of law provision, Petitioner instead focuses on the notion that the Circuit Court, *sua sponte* and without notice, unilaterally determined that Texas law would apply to the contract only five days before the trial was set to begin. This argument, however, is created solely from Petitioner's own acts and omissions.

First, the Circuit Court only applied the valid terms of the subject Agreement, which Petitioner agreed to and which became binding on January 2, 2019 – 608 days before the trial of this matter. Moreover, as the transcript from the August 26, 2020 pretrial hearing makes clear, it is disingenuous for Petitioner to imply that she was somehow prejudiced by the alleged "11th hour" notice that the Agreement would be applied under Texas law, as Petitioner was provided every opportunity to continue the trial date to either prepare under Texas law, or question the validity of the choice of law provision:

Mr. Auvil: ... Are we proceeding under Texas law now because

I know nothing about Texas law.

The Court: That is what the contract says and maybe it is best –

Mr. Auvil: I am just asking.

The Court: And one of the cases that I relied on was In re: Frank

Motor Co., the Supreme Court of Texas [361 S.W.3d 628, 629 (Tex. 2012)] as it related to the enforcement

of a jury waiver agreement.

Are the parties ready to proceed next week or do you need more time to prepare in light of – where

do we stand now?

Mr. Auvil: If we are proceeding under West Virginia Contract

law I am able to proceed.

If today we are finding out we are proceeding under Texas law, I know nothing about Texas law so I will have to learn something about it. I will try to do so before next week.

The Court:

There are very few, if any, differences as it related to the jury waiver issue between Texas and West Virginia. It came down to whether it was knowing and intelligent and whether it was against public policy.

Mr. Auvil:

That may be the case. I have not researched it. I accept the Court's view of that.

My question was are we proceeding under that law substantively in terms of whatever contract claim it is because the Plaintiff and Defendant clearly from the instruction you can see on the e-mail had reached an understanding as to what the factual issue was for resolution. If that is different under Texas law, I need

to figure that out.

Mr. Reale: If the Plaintiff wants more time, I mean, we are not

going to object to it.

Mr. Auvil: I don't want more time. I need to know what I need

to know.

The Court: The contract appears clear. The Court finds that it is

controlled by Texas law.

Mr. Auvil: Okay. I just want to know because today if the first

time that I am hearing about it, in this hearing.

The Court: You should have probably read the contract.

Mr. Auvil: Whether I did or not, we've already covered. I

appreciate the Court's position.

Appx., pp. 304 – 307 (emphasis supplied). Petitioner was specifically offered more time to prepare under Texas law, to which SJRC indicated it would not object to. Appx., p. 306. Instead, Petitioner's counsel stated, "I don't want more time." Id.; see Jennings v. Smith, 165 W. Va. 791, 791, 272 S.E.2d 229, 229 (1980)("A judgment will not be reversed for any error in the record introduced by or invited by the party asking for the reversal.' Syl. pt. 21, State v. Riley, 151 W.Va. 364, 151 S.E.2d 308 (1966)"). For Petitioner to now suggest on appeal that the notice of the application of Texas law to the Agreement was too close in time to the trial date is both inconsistent with the facts and is a built-in argument on appeal of counsel's own making.

ii. The choice of law provision is inapplicable to claims pursuant to the West Virginia Wage Payment and Collection Act.

Petitioner contends that because she has asserted claims pursuant to the WVWPCA, that the subject Employment Agreement cannot possibly be subject to interpretation under Texas law. Quite simply, this argument fails, as the employment contract is not mutually exclusive of the WVWPCA, and vice versa.

Petitioner correctly notes that the WVWPCA cannot be waived by private agreement. <u>See</u> W. Va. Code §21-5-10 ("... no provision of this article may in any way be contravened or set aside by private agreement ..."). Although Petitioner does not elaborate on how the Texas choice of law provision allegedly contravenes the WVWCPA, it is of no consequence, because that has not occurred in the instant matter. Nothing in the subject employment agreement precludes the WVWPCA from being applied.

What Petitioner fails to recognize is that before it is possible to proceed with the application of West Virginia law pursuant to the WVWPCA, it must first be determined whether there is any recovery available to her under the specific conditions required under the agreement. See generally Appx. pp. 13-14 (Art. 4 of Employment Agreement). Specifically, §4.7 of the Employment Agreement provides:

"Except as set forth in this Agreement, the Employee shall not be entitled to any compensation for wrongful dismissal, severance pay, or termination pay, if the employment of the Employee is terminated pursuant to the terms hereof."

Appx. p. 14. Put simply, only if Petitioner were entitled to severance pay pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, which is governed by the valid choice of law provision, could the application of the WVWPCA even be considered. Even the Petitioner appears to acknowledge this position in her "Statement Regarding Oral Argument," recognizing that the Court must first determine whether Petitioner is entitled severance pay under the terms of the Agreement *before* it can "reach the question of whether or not the severance package at issue in this matter constitutes 'wages' under the [WVWPCA]..." Petitioner's Brief, p. 22.

Therefore, Petitioner's argument that the WVWPCA precludes application of the valid choice of law provision and the contract being interpreted under Texas law must fail.⁶

iii. Even if error occurred in applying Texas law to the Employment Agreement, such error was "harmless" and does not affect the substantial rights of Petitioner.

In the instant matter, Petitioner seeks reversal and remand of the (correct) pretrial ruling by the Circuit Court that Texas law governs the terms of the Petitioner's employment agreement. However, assuming, *arguendo*, that decision was in error, the same must be considered "harmless error," as the only possible issue to be decided as a conclusion of law at the trial of this matter was in favor of Petitioner and against SJRC.

Rule 60 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure provides:

No error in either the admission or the exclusion of evidence and no error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court or by any of the parties is ground for granting a new

⁶ Following Petitioner's logic, foreign corporations doing business in this state, who desire to contract under the law of another state in employment contracts, would never be able to have a choice of law provision based on the premise that any employer who pays wages in West Virginia is subject to the WVWCPA and therefore unable to apply anything other than West Virginia law to its employment agreements.

trial or for setting aside a verdict or for vacating, modifying or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.

Similarly, it has been consistently held by this Court that "[o]n appeal of a case involving an action covered by the Rules of Civil Procedure, this Court will disregard and regard as harmless any error, defect or irregularity in the proceedings in the trial court which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties." Syl. Pt. 3, Original Glorious Church of God In Christ, Inc. of Apostolic Faith v. Myers, 179 W. Va. 255, 367 S.E.2d 30 (1988); Syl. Pt. 2, Boggs v. Settle, 150 W.Va. 330, 145 S.E.2d 446 (1965).

At trial, the only questions before the Circuit Court were (a) whether SJRC materially breached the subject Agreement — a question of law, and (b) whether Petitioner resigned her position with SJRC for "good reason" — a question of fact. As such, the application of Texas law by the Circuit Court could have only applied to the question of whether the breach of the subject Agreement was "material." Concerning that question, the Circuit Court held in its Trial Order, in relevant part:

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